Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 47779-3-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CYRIL J. WORM, a married man, as his sole and separate property,

Petitioner,

vs.

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON FKA THE BANK OF NEW YORK AS TRUSTEE FOR THE HOLDERS OF CWALT, INC., ALTERNATIVE LOAN TRUST 2004-J12, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2004-J12; BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP; RESIDENTIAL CREDIT SOLUTIONS, INC.; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES OF WASHINGTON; and MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.

Respondents.

APPELLANT WORM'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

CYRIL J. WORM, Plaintiff Pro se 6551 NE Northshore Road Belfair, WA 98528 (206) 354-4638

BECEIAED ETECLEONICATTX 190 12, 2012, 4:41 pm CLERK'S OFFICE SUPREME COURT RECEIVED RECEIVED

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I	IDE	NTITY OF PETITIONER1
Π	COU	JRT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III	ISSU	JES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
IV	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE1
I	ARC	GUMENT4
	А.	 Acceptance of Review4 1. Significant question of law under Constitution4 2. Issue of substantial public interest5
	B.	Petition commences good faith effort to reverse holding in <i>Brown,</i> appellate court and trial court5
	C.	Brown irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310 and therefore potentially violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine6
	D.	Brown irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 62A.9A-203 and therefore potentially violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine8
	E.	Issue in Brown13
	F.	Appellate court's ruling denying Respondents attorney fees undermines and destroys court's a trial court ruling
	1.	Deed of Trust Language is Clear and Unequivocal19a.Attorney fees and costs
VII	CON	CLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASE LAW

<i>Brown v. Dept. of Commerce</i> , 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015)1,5, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 18
wii.2d 309 (2013)
Cashmere Valley Bank, 181 Wn.2d 622 (2014)4
<i>Estate of Davis,</i> 2001 ME 106, 775 A. 2 nd 1127 (2001)18
<i>Farmer v. Broadhead</i> , 230 So. 2 nd 779, 1970 Miss. LEXIS 156118
<i>In re Lucy E. Crumholt Trust,</i> 2013 La. App. Unpub. LEXIS 48718
<i>In re Van Dusen</i> , 834 N. W. 2 nd 514, 2013 Minn. App. LEXIS 2218
<i>Jacob v. Davis,</i> 128 Md. App. 433, 738 A.2 nd 904 (1999)18
<i>McHenry v. Reiner (In re Wendland-Reiner Trust),</i> 267 Neb. 696, 677 N. W. 2 nd 117 (2004)18
Morris v. Kraft, 466 Mass. 92, 992 N. E. 2 nd 1021 (2013)
<i>O'Riley v. U. S. Bank, NA,</i> 412 S. W. 3 rd 400, 2013 Mo. App. LEXIS 107418
<i>Stanton v. Wells Fargo Bank Mont., NA,</i> 335 Mont. 384, 152 P. 3 rd 115 (2007)18

Whittier Trust Co. v. Getty (In re OrepheusTrust), 123 Nev. 170, 179 P.3rd 562 (2008)......18 *Williams v. Herbert (In re Herbert Trust),* 303 Mich. App. 456, 844 N. W. 2nd 163 (2013).....18

STATE STATUTES

RCW CHAPTER 61.24

(1)	RCW 61.24.03013, 14
(2)	RCW 61.24.08017
(3)	RCW 61.24.16613
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.1
(1)	RCW 62A.1-201
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.3
(1)	RCW 62A.3-3101, 5, 6, 7, 8, 12, 16, 17, 20
(2)	RCW 62a.3-41216
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.9A
(1)	RCW 62A.9A-1029
(2)	RCW 62A.9A-2035, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16
(3)	RCW 62A.9A-3139

FEDERAL STATUTE

CASE LAW

1.

MISCELLANEOUS AUTHORITY

1.

v

I IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cyril J. Worm asks this court to accept review of the court of appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner requests this honorable court review the Unpublished Opinion ("Opinion") issued and filed by the Court of Appeals on November 22, 2016. An order denying Petitioner's motion for reconsideration ("Order") was issued and filed by the court on December 16, 2016. A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-16. A copy of the Order is in the Appendix at page A-17.

HI ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court's decision in *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015) irreconcilably and unconstitutionally conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310 and therefore must be overturned.

2. Whether this Court's decision in Brown irreconcilably and unconstitutionally conflicts with RCW 62A.9A-203 and therefore must be overturned.

3. Whether a person can be denied attorney fees because it has not alleged or proven it is the Lender under the DOT, yet still be permitted to utilize the DOT to foreclose.

IV STATEMENT OF THE CASE

RBC Mortgage Co. originated Petitioner's mortgage loan on October 28, 2004. *CP* 136. As part of the loan transaction, Petitioner

executed a note ("Note") and deed of trust ("DOT"). *Id.* On a date prior to December 30, 2004, the Bank of New York Mellon FKA the Bank of New York as Trustee for the <u>Certificate holders</u> of CWALT, Inc., Alternative Loan Trust 2004-J12, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2004-J12 ("Trust 1") allegedly purchased Plaintiff's loan. *Id.*

On June 9, 2010, MERS, solely in its own name, attempted to assign Petitioner's Note and DOT to Trust 1 ("AA 1"). *CP* 59. ReconTrust Company recorded AA 1 on June 11, 2010 under Mason County Auditor's No. 1958547. *Id.*

On or about March 7, 2011, BAC Home Loans Servicing, LLP ("BAC"), modified Petitioner's loan, thereby -- per the terms of the Loan Modification Agreement ("LMA") -- becoming the new "owner" and "holder" of the Note and "beneficiary" of the DOT. *Id.* 66. The LMA was recorded in the Mason County Auditor's Office under file no. 1981711 on March 16, 2011. *Id.*

There have been two attempts to foreclose that are relevant to this Petition. *Id.* 81 and 89. Each of those attempts occurred after March 7, litigation 2011. *Id.* BAC, the alleged *owner and holder* of the Note and beneficiary of the DOT since March 7, 2011, was not the foreclosing entity on either occasion. *Id.*

On September 25, 2012, MERS, *again acting in its individual capacity*, attempted to assign the Note and DOT to Trust 1 for a second time ("AA 2"). *Id.* 60.

Approximately 16 months later, on January 30, 2014, Trust 1 attempted to assign <u>the DOT only</u> to the Bank of New York Mellon FKA the Bank of New York as Trustee for the <u>Holders</u> of CWALT, Inc., Alternative Loan Trust 2004-J12 ("Trust 2") ("AA 3"). *Id*. 62.

Assignment of a DOT in the absence of the note is a nullity.

But on December 16, 2013, one and one-half months <u>before</u> Trust 1 attempted AA 3, Trust 2 attempted to appoint Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") the successor trustee. *Id.* 74. NWTS recorded the appointment on February 4, 2014. Thus, NWTS was appointed the successor trustee by an entity, Trust 2, that had not yet been assigned the note or DOT. And Trust 1 assigned the DOT, but not the note, to Trust 2 <u>after</u> Trust 2 had already appointed NWTS the successor trustee.

NWTS recorded a notice of trustee's sale ("NOTS 1") on March 25, 2014. *Id.* 81-85. At all times after March 7, 2011, BAC, not Trust 1 or Trust 2, was allegedly the owner and holder of the Note and beneficiary of the DOT.

On January 12, 2015, Petitioner filed the Complaint objecting to the illegalities herein recited and seeking injunctive relief until the merits of the objections could be adjudicated. *Id.* 133-142. Following initiation of the lawsuit, NWTS postponed the sale that had been scheduled for March 23, 2015. Subsequently, all Defendants moved to dismiss the case for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. They asserted,

inter alia, that Trust 2, not BAC, was the noteholder and was therefore entitled to foreclose.

Judge Daniel L. Goodell heard the motion and, basing its decision largely on this court's holding in *Brown*, granted Defendants' motions June 8, 2015.

Petitioner timely appealed.

The appellate court, also relying principally on this court's holding in *Brown*, confirmed the trial court ruling. However, in doing so, the court denied Respondents' request for attorneys' fees and costs as the prevailing party. It reasoned thus in denying the motion for attorneys' fees and costs:

But assignment of the Deed of Trust does not necessarily change the identity of the Lender. See Cashmere Valley Bank, 181 Wn.2d at 626 n.4 (explaining that a lender may sell the mortgage and deed of trust to a buyer, but the "lender may foreclose on the property [in default] and pass along proceeds from the sale, less the lender's fee or share, to the buyer.") Here, the last identified Lender was BAC, per the LMA. The record does not show that Trust 2 is the Lender, and Trust 2 does not argue that it is the Lender. Rather, Trust 2 argues only that it is entitled to attorney fees and costs because it unequivocally held the secured Note during the time relevant to Mr. Worm's allegations. Therefore, we deny Trust 2 request for reasonable attorney fees and costs because it has not demonstrated it is entitled to attorney fees and cost under the Deed of Trust. Unpublished Opinion, A-15.

The Petition was timely filed on January 17, 2017.

VI ARGUMENT

A. Acceptance of Review

1. Significant question of law under Constitution.

As was true of the trial court's ruling, the appellate court's ruling is based primarily on this Court's decision in *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015). That decision irreconcilably conflicts with two legislative enactments – RCW 62A.3-310 and RCW 62A.9A-203 – in an area (regulation of commercial transactions in Washington) in which Article II, Section 1 of the Washington Constitution grants the legislature plenary authority, subject to constitutional limitations. The Brown decision therefore is potentially unconstitutional. Because the Brown decision affects every foreclosure that occurs in the state, and will continue to do so as long as the decision is in force, the constitutional conflict is of significant moment.

2. Issue of substantial public interest.

The *Brown* decision affects the way every foreclosure proceeding in Washington is conducted. Therefore, if the decision is determined to be unconstitutional, or unlawful for one of the other reasons provided herein below, the repeal of the decision will also significantly affect the way all non-judicial foreclosures are conducted in this state. This case is of substantial public interest.

B. Petition commences good faith effort to reverse holding in *Brown*, appellate court and trial court.

Petitioner, of course, is aware *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015) -- and all cases in the *Brown* line of cases – concludes the holder of a secured mortgage note, regardless of ownership of the note, is entitled to utilize the deed of trust to foreclose. That holding is now famous or infamous depending on whether you are a lender or a homeowner.

The arguments in this section of the Petition are offered in good faith for the ultimate purpose of achieving a reversal of the holding in *Brown* and of the appellate court's affirmance of the trial court ruling on summary judgment. Both the appellate court and the trial court leaned heavily on *Brown* in arriving at their respective decisions. If that case is unconstitutional, or unlawful for one of the other reasons detailed below, the appellate and trial court decisions must be reversed.

C. Brown irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310 and therefore potentially violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine.

Under RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3), if the note is dishonored <u>and</u> the obligee of the obligation for which the note was taken as payment (the owner of the mortgage debt and note) is the person entitled to enforce the note (the holder of the note), then the obligee of the obligation (the owner of the mortgage debt and note) may enforce <u>either</u> the note <u>or</u> the underlying mortgage debt.¹ If, on the other hand, the owner of the underlying mortgage debt obligation and note <u>is not</u> the holder of the note, which is the situation presented by the facts of this case, then the owner of the note and underlying mortgage debt obligation <u>may not</u> enforce the

¹ Under the terms of the DOT (the agreement between the homeowner and Lender), the underlying mortgage debt, not the note, is enforced by selling the homeowner's property at public auction. As with any other promissory note, a defaulted upon mortgage note is enforced by suing on the note. This is a routine legal fact the courts seem to have lost sight of in resolving these foreclosure cases.

note \underline{or} the underlying mortgage debt obligation.² This result obtains

because the Lender is unable to declare the note dishonored because only

the PETE can declare the note dishonored. And until the note is declared

dishonored, the underlying mortgage debt remains suspended! RCW

62A.3-310(b)(2).

Official Comment 3 to UCC § 3-310 makes the point very clearly:

3. Subsection (b) concerns cases in which an uncertified check or *a note* is taken for an obligation. The typical case is that in which a buyer pays for goods or services by giving the seller the buyer's personal check, or in which the *buyer signs a note for the purchase price*, *If the* check or note is dishonored, the seller [lender sells (or loans) the money the borrower purchases (or borrows) in a mortgage loan transaction] may sue on *either* the dishonored instrument [note] or the contract of sale [the DOT in a mortgage loan transaction] if the seller has possession of the instrument [note] and is the person entitled to enforce it. If the right to enforce the instrument is held by somebody other than the seller [BONY in this case], the seller *can't* enforce the right to payment of the price under the sales contract because that right is represented by the instrument [the note] which is enforceable by somebody else [BONY]. Thus, if the seller sold the note or the check to a holder *and* has not reacquired it after dishonor, *the only* right that survives is the right to enforce the instrument [the note].

(bracketed material and emphasis added).

Please notice, RCW 62A.3-310 does not give a noteholder that

does not own the note it holds the option of enforcing the underlying

mortgage debt (the DOT). Ever! Unless the noteholder owns the

underlying mortgage debt, the note holder has no interest in the underlying

² The *Brown* decision makes the noteholder that does not own the note it holds the only entity lawfully entitled to enforce the underlying mortgage debt. RCW 62A.3-310 and the *Brown* decision irreconcilably conflict on this point.

mortgage debt. And if the noteholder has no interest in the underlying mortgage debt, the noteholder has no right to utilize the DOT to obtain foreclosure proceeds to pay off the underlying mortgage debt.³

BONY has neither alleged nor proven it owns the note it holds. Consequently, BONY has not proven that it has any interest in the underlying mortgage debt. Therefore, BONY has not proven it is a party to the DOT contract. *The Brown* decision *authorizes* BONY to foreclose under these circumstances; RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) *prevents* BONY from foreclosing under these circumstances. Therefore, *Brown* and RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) irreconcilably conflict over a subject (regulation of commercial transactions in Washington) that Article II, Section 1 of the constitution grants the legislature plenary authority to control. This conflict raises a significant constitutional question.

D. Brown irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 62A.9A-203 and therefore potentially violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine.

RCW 62A.9A-203(a) states a *security* interest (*ownership* interest (*See* RCW 62A.1-201[b][35]) attaches to collateral (a mortgage note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][12][B]) when the ownership interest in the

³ This point is lost on those who believe – as the *Brown* court clearly did believe (*See fn*. *X*) -- the borrower has a single obligation – the obligation to pay the note per its covenants and agreements. The borrower has a second obligation – the obligation to repay the underlying mortgage debt. These two obligations are separate and distinct. The fact that paying the note per its covenants and agreements discharges to the extent of the payment both the obligation to pay the note and the separate obligation to repay the underlying mortgage debt does not turn the obligation to pay the note into the obligation to repay the mortgage debt. Even though one payment simultaneously satisfies both obligations to the extent of the payment, they remain separate obligations. For what should be obvious reasons, this fact is extremely important to keep in mind when trying to determine who has the right to foreclose.

mortgage note becomes enforceable against the debtor (the seller of the mortgage note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][28][B]). Further, RCW 62A.9A-203(b) states that a security interest (ownership interest (See RCW 62A.1-201[b][35]) in collateral (a mortgage note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][12][B]) becomes *enforceable* against the world the instant three conditions have been met: (1) "value" has been given for the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][1]); (2) the <u>seller</u> has rights in the note or the power to transfer rights in the note to a purchaser (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][2]); and (3) either (a) the *debtor* (the *seller* of the note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][28][B]) has signed a security agreement (a security agreement is an agreement that creates or provides for a security interest [(RCW 62A.9A-102[a][74] that provides a description of the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][3][A]), or (b) pursuant to the terms of the <u>debtor's</u> security agreement, is possessed by someone other than the *secured party* (the *purchaser* of the note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][73][D]) under RCW 62A.9A-313 solely for the purchaser's benefit (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][3][B]). See RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(3)(A) and (B) and RCW 62A.9A-313.

This court undertook essentially the same analysis in *Brown* (*Brown*, 184 Wn.2d at 528-529), with one small but highly significant difference. After analyzing RCW 62A.9A-203(a), and (b) virtually identically to the analysis provided in the preceding paragraph, the court, in fn. 9, analyzed RCW 62A.9A-203(g) in the following way:

The parties agree the note is secured by a publicly recorded deed of trust, but the deed is not in this court's record. The

deed's absence from the record does not affect this case because RCW 62A.9A-203(g) ' "codifies the common-law rule that a transfer of an obligation secured by a security interest or other lien on personal or real property also transfers the security interest or lien[.]" ' *Id.*, at fn, 9.

The *Brown* court assumed the language of RCW 62A.9A-203(g) applies to the transfer of the right to enforce the note. It made this mistake because it incorrectly assumed the borrower emerges from the closing of the mortgage loan transaction with only one obligation – the obligation to pay the note per its covenants and agreements.⁴ Thus, the court reasoned, if the right to receive the note payments per the note's covenants and agreements was transferred from one party to another, the security for the right to receive the note payments ("DOT") would also be transferred. This reasoning is logical, but fatally flawed because the assumption on which the reasoning rests is incorrect.

In every mortgage loan transaction, the borrower emerges from the close of the transaction as the obligor of two obligations, not one: 1) the obligation to pay the note per its covenants and agreements;⁵ and 2) the obligation to repay the underlying mortgage debt for which the note is

⁴ This assumption can be seen in several places in the *Brown* Opinion. On page 527: "In sum, the borrower *owes and discharges his or her <u>obligation</u> [a single obligation] to the PETE." Again, page 527: "When the borrower pays the PETE—and only when the borrower pays the PETE—the borrower's obligation is discharged. (cite omitted) ('[A]n instrument is paid to the extent payment is made . . . to a person entitled to enforce the instrument[, a PETE]. To the extent of the payment, the obligation of the party obliged to pay the instrument is discharged' (emphasis added))."*

Please appreciate, the quotes in the preceding paragraph (and several other references to a single obligation sprinkled throughout the opinion) relate to the obligation to pay the note *only*. They do not relate to the obligation to pay the underlying mortgage debt.

⁵ In a mortgage loan transaction in Washington, this obligation is owed to anyone who holds the note, regardless of ownership of the note. RCW 62A.3-301.

issued as the method of payment.⁶ It is to this second obligation, which is always owed to the owner of the note and underlying mortgage obligation for which the note is taken as payment, that the language of RCW 62A.9A-203(g) speaks.

When coupled with RCW 62A.9A-203(a) and (b), RCW 62A.9A-203(g) is the codification of the common law "security follows the note" doctrine. *See Official Comment 9 to UCC §9-203.* Under 9A-203(g), if the three requirements for transfer of the secured note are met,⁷ the security for the note (the DOT) is automatically transferred.

Under RCW 62A.9A-203(a) the ownership interest (security interest) a purchaser of a note (a right to payment) obtains by purchasing the note (the right to payment) *attaches* to the note (to the right to payment) when the ownership interest (security interest) becomes *enforceable* against the seller (debtor) and the rest of the world. Under RCW 62A.9A-203(b), the ownership interest (security interest) becomes *enforceable* against the seller of the note (the right to payment) when conditions are met. So, when the three conditions are met,⁸ the ownership interest in the note (the right to payment) *attaches* to the note (the right to payment) and is *enforceable* against the entire world. Under RCW

⁶ Unlike the note, the obligation to repay the underlying mortgage debt <u>is owed to only</u> <u>one person in the world</u> – the lender (or the lender's successor or the lender's assignee).
⁷ As the Brown court indicated, "A purchaser of a promissory note gains 'outright ownership' of a note when the thee conditions in RCW 62A.9A-203(b) are met." Brown, 184 Wn.2d at 528. The purchaser gains more than that.

⁸ The first one of the three conditions is that the purchaser must give <u>value</u> for the note (the right to payment). In other words, the purchaser must buy the note (the right to payment).

62A.9A-203(g), if the note (the right to payment) is secured, the <u>attachment</u> of a security interest (ownership interest) in the right to payment (the note) is also the attachment of the security interest (ownership interest) in the security for the right to payment (the DOT). In other words, the security follows the <u>sale</u> of the right to payment (the note).

Please, Petitioner implores you, to re-read the preceding paragraph until you understand it. Because the preceding paragraph accurately explains what the *security follows the note* doctrine has always meant historically, and what it currently means under Washington statutory law. 0One of the three requirements for transferring the note is that *value* be given. if, *and only if*, the Note is transferred pursuant to 9A-203(a) and (b). That is, the DOT follows a transfer of *ownership* of the Note.

The idea that the *security follows the note* doctrine means the security follows *the transfer of the right to enforce the note* is an idea of recent vintage and, given RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g), is utter nonsense. Therefore, *Brown* and RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g) irreconcilably conflict over a subject (regulation of commercial transactions in Washington) that Article II, Section 1 of the constitution grants the legislature plenary authority to control. As is true with *Brown's* conflict with RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3), this conflict raises a significant constitutional question.

BONY has not proven, or even attempted to prove, that it owns the note. As such, pursuant to the requirements of RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g), BONY has not proven that it has any interest in the DOT. Without a proven interest in the DOT, BONY had no right to foreclose, and NWTS had no right to commence foreclosure.

E. Issue in Brown

In *Brown*, the primary issue was whether Darlene Brown, the Plaintiff, was entitled to a mediation hearing. If M & T Bank ("M & T") was the beneficiary of the DOT, Ms. Brown was not entitled to a hearing because M & T was entitled to the exemption provided in RCW 61.24.166. If, on the other hand, Freddie Mac was the beneficiary of the DOT, Ms. Brown was entitled to a hearing because Freddie Mac was not entitled to the exemption provided in RCW 61.24.166.

The parties presented the court with a binary choice. The problem is the actual universe of choices is not binary; it is trinary. There is a third choice – one must be both the *holder and owner* of the note to be entitled to foreclose. The Brown court admitted this third choice was the result the legislature was attempting to achieve when it enacted the Foreclosure Fairness Act in 2011:

With RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), the legislature attempted to resolve this problem of homeowners not knowing who has the authority to enforce and modify their notes by including *both* the concepts *of owning and holding the note*. *Brown*, 184 Wn.2d at 543. (emphasis added). But the *Brown* court concluded that RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) was ambiguous when the owner and holder of the note were different entities: "Yet in cases where the owner and the holder of the note are different entities, as here, the provision is ambiguous." *Id.* It relied on a couple of commentators – Dale A. Whitman (a law professor at the University of Arkansas) and Drew Milner (one of Professor Whitman's law students) – as authoritative support for the claim. The problem is neither Professor Whitman nor Drew Milner are authorities on this subject.⁹ They pretend to be, but the law review article gives them away.

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