Supreme Court No. 94051-7

Court of Appeals No. 47779-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CYRIL J. WORM

Appellant,

v.

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON FKA THE BANK OF NEW YORK AS TRUSTEE FOR THE HOLDERS OF CWALT, INC., ALTERNATIVE LOAN TRUST 2004-J12, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2004-J12; RESIDENTIAL CREDIT SOLUTIONS, INC.; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES OF WASHINGTON; MORTGAGE REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.; and JOHN DOES 1-20

Respondents.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENTS TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By:
Joshua S. Schaer, WSBA No. 31491
RCO LEGAL, P.S.
13555 S.E. 36th St., Suite 300
Bellevue, WA 98006
(425) 457-7810

I. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTIES

Respondent Bank of New York Mellon fka The Bank of New York as Trustee for the Holders of CWALT, Inc., Alternative Loan Trust 2004-J12, Mortgage Pass-through Certificates, Series 2004-J12 ("Bank of New York"), Residential Credit Solutions, Inc. ("RCS"), Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), and Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") hereby jointly answer the Petition for Review of Appellant Cyril Worm ("Petition for Review") as follows below.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Respondents request that the Washington Supreme Court decline to accept discretionary review of the unpublished decision in *Worm v.*NWTS et al., 2016 WL 6885907 (Div. 2, Nov. 22, 2016).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court is considering a Petition for Review on virtually identical issues in *Cummings v. NWTS et al.*, No. 94093-2. Respondents in that matter have likewise asked the Court to deny the Cummings' Petition.

First, *Brown v. Wash. Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 359 P.3d 771 (2015), was correctly decided because holder status, and not ownership, is dispositive to non-judicial enforcement of a secured loan.

Second, the Court of Appeals' denial of attorneys' fees to Bank of New York is not a critical ruling that should necessitate higher review.

IV. RELEVANT FACTS

A. <u>Origination of the Loan.</u>

On or about October 28, 2004, in consideration for a mortgage loan, Appellant Worm executed a promissory note (the "Note") in the amount of \$367,250.00. CP 36-39. In the Note, Mr. Worm agreed that if he did "not pay the full amount of each monthly payment on the date it is due," he would be in default. Id, \P 6(B).

Mr. Worm also executed a Deed of Trust securing the Note. CP 41-57. The recorded Deed of Trust encumbers a piece of real property commonly known as NE 6551 North Shore Road, Belfair, WA 98528 (the "Property"). *Id.* Mr. Worm agreed the Note and Deed of Trust could be sold one or more times without prior notice to him. *Id.* at 51, ¶ 20.

On June 11, 2010, October 1, 2012, and February 4, 2014, respectively, Assignments of the Deed of Trust were publicly recorded. CP 59-62. These documents identify Bank of New York as the most recent assignee in the public record. *Id.*

// //

B. Mr. Worm Modifies the Loan and Then Defaults.

On November 16, 2011, a loan modification agreement between Mr. Worm and BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP¹ was recorded with the Mason County Auditor. CP 64-70.² In that document, Mr. Worm renewed his commitment to repaying the loan. *Id*.

On or about December 1, 2012, despite Mr. Worm's assurance of repayment, he became delinquent on his monthly loan installments. *See* CP 76-79 (Notice of Default); *see also* CP 139 (Compl., ¶ 3.24).

C. <u>Bank of New York, as the Beneficiary, Proceeds</u> <u>With Non-Judicial Foreclosure of the Property.</u>

On January 13, 2014, Bank of New York, through RCS as its Attorney-in-Fact, executed an unambiguous declaration evidencing Bank of New York's status as Note holder. CP 72; *cf.* CP 137 (Compl., ¶ 3.11, alleging the trust has no interest in the loan); CP 140 (Compl., ¶ 4.2, alleging the same). The record shows that all actions taken in furtherance of foreclosure occurred *after* this sworn averment.

On February 4, 2014, an Appointment of Successor Trustee, naming NWTS as Successor Trustee and vesting NWTS with the powers

¹ BAC Home Loans was not a party to the action. CP 133 (Complaint caption).

² Mr. Worm apparently had no problem with a representative of MERS, acting as nominee for Bank of America, executing the modification agreement. *Id.*

of the original trustee, was recorded with the Mason County Auditor. CP 74.

On or about February 14, 2014, as a result of Mr. Worm's default, NWTS sent him a Notice of Default. CP 76-79; see also CP 139 (Compl., ¶ 3.24).

On March 25, 2014, a Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded with the Mason County Auditor, setting a sale date of August 1, 2014 for the Property. CP 81-85. The sale date itself was later discontinued, with this fact publicly recorded in a Notice of Discontinuance. CP 87.

On September 24, 2014, after Mr. Worm dismissed a prior lawsuit in Federal Court, NWTS recorded a new Notice of Trustee's Sale with the Mason County Auditor, setting a sale date of January 23, 2015 for the Property. CP 89-94.

On or about January 6, 2015, Mr. Worm wrote to NWTS demanding a discontinuance of the pending trustee's sale within 48 hours of his correspondence, or else he would commence a class-action lawsuit. CP 96; see also CP 139 (Compl., ¶ 3.31). On January 12, 2015, before any response could reasonably be made, Mr. Worm initiated a lawsuit.

On June 8, 2015, the Hon. Judge Daniel L. Goodell granted Respondents' joint Motion to Dismiss. CP 8-9. Mr. Worm then appealed.

On November 22, 2016, the Court of Appeals, Division Two, affirmed the trial court's decision. *Worm v. NWTS et al.*, 2016 WL 6885907 (Div. 2, Nov. 22, 2016) (unpublished).

V. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The Supreme Court's decision in *Brown* was neither erroneous nor unconstitutional.
- 2. Although the Court of Appeals should have granted attorneys' fees to Bank of New York, their refusal to do so is not a significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The discretionary acceptance of a decision terminating review may only be granted based on the criteria set forth in R.A.P. 13.4(b). Mr. Worm contends there is a "significant question of law" and "issue of substantial public interest." Petition for Review at 5. However, the record does not support either basis.

B. Mr. Worm Fails to Show that Brown Was Wrongly Decided.

Mr. Worm contends that this Court's unanimous decision in Brown, supra., was incorrect. Petition for Review at 8, inter alia.

However, the right to foreclose is strictly vested with a note's

holder because Washington law recognizes the general principle that a security instrument (Deed of Trust) follows the debt (Note) with or without formal assignment. See, e.g., Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn. App. 166, 177, 367 P.3d 600 (2016) ("Washington courts have long recognized that the security instrument follows the note that it secures.").³

Brown accurately states a holder – and not an owner – is entitled to enforce a note through non-judicial foreclosure of property that secures repayment of the note as collateral. 184 Wn.2d at 543. Under the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"), "[o]wnership of the note is not dispositive." Trujillo v. NWTS, 181 Wn. App. 484, 498, 326 P.3d 768 (2014), as modified (Nov. 3, 2014), rev'd on other grounds, 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015); see also In re Veal, 450 B.R. 897, 912 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2011).

In the wake of *Brown*, courts have applied its holding to reject

³ To the extent that Mr. Worm attacked the Assignments of record, the Court of Appeals properly found,

[[]w]hen MERS assigned the Deed of Trust on October 1, 2012, MERS had been identified as the agent for BAC, who was the beneficiary under the Note. Therefore, MERS's assignment of the Deed of Trust was valid because the assignment complied with Washington agency law and complied with the provisions of the Note, Deed of Trust, and LMA [Loan Modification Agreement]. Thus, Worm fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted because MERS's assignments of the Deeds of Trust were valid.

²⁰¹⁶ WL 6885907, at *6.

borrowers' claims just like the one pled in this case. See, e.g., Cummings v. NWTS et al., 2016 WL 6952623 (Div. 1, Nov. 28, 2016) (unpublished) ("Case authority makes clear that Article 3 controls the right to enforce a note and deed of trust under this statute. Article 9 has no bearing on enforcement of a note and deed of trust."); Leonard v. Recontrust Co., N.A., 2016 WL 304802, *6 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 26, 2016) ("To the extent that they assert that the Washington State Supreme Court's decision in Brown was 'wrongly decided' and that if properly decided Defendants would not have complied with the statute, their argument is without merit.").

In the Motion to Dismiss below, Respondents demonstrated that the trustee possessed an unambiguous declaration, as approved of in *Brown*. CP 72.

Given this sufficient proof of Bank of New York's beneficiary status shown in the factual record of this case, which was within the scope of allegations pled for purposes of CR 12(b)(6), the DTA did not require some other form of documentation prior to recording the Notice of Trustee's Sale and proceeding accordingly. *See*, *e.g. Bavand v. OneWest Bank*, 196 Wn. App. 813, 385 P.3d 233 (2016), *as modified* (Dec. 15, 2016) (finding no CPA liability when NWTS possessed an unequivocal

beneficiary declaration); *McAfee v. Select Portfolio Serv.*, *Inc.*, 193 Wn. App. 220, 228, 370 P.3d 25 (2016) (same).

C. The Denial of Attorneys' Fees is Not an Issue That Requires Additional Consideration.

Mr. Worm next argues that the Court of Appeals' decision presents a conflict because it denied attorneys' fees to Bank of New York as the "lender." Petition for Review at 18. Mr. Worm asserts this outcome means Bank of New York could not enforce the Note. *Id.* at 19.

However, the Court of Appeals found that only the "lender," as identified in the initial loan documents or subsequent modification thereof, would be entitled to prevailing party fees under the Deed of Trust. 2016 WL 6885907, at *8 ("Here, the last identified Lender was BAC, per the LMA.... Rather, Trust 2 [Bank of New York] argues only that it is entitled to attorney fees and costs because it unequivocally held the secured Note during the time relevant to Mr. Worm's allegations.").

Bank of New York maintains this determination was contrary to longstanding case law, and it should have been granted fee recovery on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Walton v. Severson*, 100 Wn.2d 446, 455, 670 P.2d 639 (1983) (an assignee stands in the shoes of the original contracting party).

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals' analysis does not change the fact of Bank of New York's beneficiary status during foreclosure, or the

baselessness of Mr. Worm's claims. *Id*. The analysis simply does not present a significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest.

VII. CONCLUSION

Mr. Worm's Petition for Review does not justify further review of the consistent decisions reached in both the trial and appellate courts, and the Supreme Court should reject an invitation to revisit *Brown*. The necessary grounds found in R.A.P. 13.4(b) are not present in this case.

Therefore, the Supreme Court should decline to accept Mr.

Worm's Petition and leave the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision as final.